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This  book was out of print and unobtainable.  I was asked if it could be placed on the website and have reread it and added a few ‘modern’ comments .    

 If anyone has interesting  historical or other information do  send it in and it can be added as an postscript 
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ROOIELS

History is something … that might have happened, written by someone who was not there.

GEOLOGY 
Where does the history of a place begin?  Six hundred million years ago in the mists of the dividing mass of Gondwanaland, the South-West Cape lay under the sea at the edge of the vaguely recognisable shape that became Africa.  Then volcanic activity raised the level of the land.  Where the lava burst through the overlying shale, it cooled to form granite domes which can be seen in places at the rocks of Paarl, Miller’s Point and Llandudno. On the eastern side of the bay, the lava did not penetrate the shale.  Later the Cape sank beneath a shallow sea for 200 million years and sediments were washed down from the landmass and deposited as coarse- grained quartz sandstone.  The landmass rose again and opposing forces  thrust the layers upwards folding the rocks to some extent .   Here they lie leaning to the NNE at roughly 45° in the Hangklip mountains. On our beach one can see the various colours of sandstone deposited at different times.  Embedded in it are white, grey and red quartz pebbles.  Rooiels Valley is caused by a fault in underlying rock that allowed erosion; prevented elsewhere by the solid granite base.   Limestone beds were formed on the sea bottom by the remains of many shells and where these are now above water-level, fossils can be found.  Also where the sand dunes covered plants and animals and then petrified, there are fossil remains.  I have been told that fossils can be found in the cutting under the reservoir on the top road.

In the last 2,4 million years the sea level has varied considerably as result of ice-ages which trapped the water at the poles. The last peaked 20 000 years ago when the sea was 90 m lower and False Bay was a restio and fynbos plain. In the interglacial periods the sea rose somewhat above present levels.  Six thousand years ago it was 2 m higher than now and most of the Cape Flats were inundated. The shoreline at Rooiels lay just beneath the mountain and the flat shelf underneath was caused by the piling up of sand on the then beach. 

 It is now 25 km across the mouth of the bay from Hangklip to Cape Point and the bay averages 90m in depth with a few deeper areas to the south. There is only one large island, Seal Island, but several dangerous rocky banks just below the surface.  Currents are generally clockwise with water remaining in the bay an average of four days. The yearly rainfall at Rooiels is 700 mm and the tidal range 

at spring levels in the estuary is 1.48 m, with higher tides when there are storms.  Winds of 100km an hour have been recorded at Cape Point (with gusts of about 140km).   The bay is affected by both the cold Benguella Current of the west coast and the warm Agulhas  Current of the east coast which send out tongues of  water that can turn into the bay. Often as we know, the water at Rooiels is warmer than that at Kleinmond and Hermanus  and vice versa. 

**  Between Two Shores : M Fraser

** Estuaries of the Cape : T J E  Heinecken

** Living shores of Southern Africa : Margo and George Branch

PREHISTORY

We think of Rooiels as a modern settlement, but the last 60 years is but a fraction of the time man has lived here. Homo Sapiens has walked on our beach and eaten out of the rock pools for 100,000 years, although it is only in the last 60 years that man has made major changes to the area - not necessarily to its advantage.  

All along the Cape coast there is evidence that Stone Age people lived in caves and shelters. Near Saldanha footprints in rock have recently been dated at 117000 years ago (National Geographic Magazine, 1997).  At Die Kelders, the University of Cape Town excavated the extensive cave system in the cliffs and found tools, bones and evidence of fires about 80 000 years old.  Six sites have been identified in the Cape Point Reserve. These Middle Stone Age people would have stayed at Rooiels intermittently, moving inland after herds or because of weather problems. They have left hand axes, scrapers, spear points and arrow-heads in caves and near the rocks, where now beach houses stand.  They would have seen mostly the same plants we do - there were far more trees in the kloofs - and  the sealife would have been the same.  Only there were many more animals, also the extinct quagga and Cape lion.  Sixty thousand years ago there were also the blue antelope, the giant buffalo with horns three metres across and the giant Cape Horse, bigger than a cart horse; known to us only by their fossilized remains found near Strandfontein across the bay. I was told that 40 years ago children found huge bones at the foot of the large dunes at Silversands. They were identified as those of an elephant and dated as 20 000 years old.  

Late Stone Age people from 21 000 years ago visited these shores and left shell ornaments here.  Several of their caves and shelters across the bay on the Peninsula have been studied.  Their descendants, the San or Bushmen,  moved in 10 000 years ago and lived in the same area and used the same caves and middens making it difficult to classify  many sites. When Rock House at the end of Rocklands Road, was built, the foundations were excavated through metres of shells and there are middens on the point. It is possible that there are  skeletons of these people, sitting in graves as their families had placed them. (About 75 midden sites have been found at Rooiels - mostly near the sea. Possibly there are more, but they are covered by the fynbos and buildings.) At the point at very low tide one can also see the remains of a fish trap  - a stone ‘wall’ packed in the sea.  The fish are washed inside the rocks and trapped at low tide. In October we saw a large fish trapped there in this way.   At Maasbaai, other side Hangklip where the slipway is, far larger traps can be easily seen. (When we were there in March, there were hundreds of red Haemanthus in bloom right down to the beach.)  The families also stayed in the cave in the kloof from where they had a view of animals coming to drink in the river,  and they were sheltered from the worst of the wind.  The estuary was then far bigger and, at times, the sea nearer the cave. The floor of the cave is metres thick with discarded shells, bones and ash, and in front the shell heap stretches all the way down to the river. There is another cave in on the south side of Klein Hangklip under the rockface. 

The San were hunter-gatherers and lived in family groups in caves or huts made of woven restio (reed) mats. They wore treated skins (karosses) and shell ornaments and rubbed their skins with fat boiled with buchu . The men used spears, clubs and bows and arrows.  The points were sometimes poisoned with snake venom mixed with the boiled sap of the bulb of a plant belonging to the amaryllis family or with the sap of the poison tree (Acokanthera venenata) They also used snares or ran down prey like small antelope or newly born giraffe.  

Here, next to the sea they would eat fish, sole speared in the lagoon and shellfish : and dead seals, even whales would wash up on the beach.  The women had digging sticks, and leather slings and clay pots to hold what they gathered. The stomachs and bladders of seals were used as water sacks.  Watsonia, gladiolus and morea bulbs were eaten and the berries of the wax bush, also mesembryanthenum  edulis (suurvy). It was a primitive and hard life but near the sea they seldom would have gone hungry, as even at the beginning of this century one could get perlemoen, oysters and crayfish here simply by wading into the pools. The San also left rock paintings of hunting scenes and spiritual experiences.  Marius Theron of Pringle Bay told me that there were paintings of animals near the cave in the kloof  - to the left of the entrance - but that in the 1950’s these were chopped out by someone! The nearest other paintings are those in Fishhoek  and Bainskloof.

 About 2000 years ago the KhoiKhoi (Hottentot) people moved in  - the ancestors of the present day Nama.  They were herders and had flocks of fat-tailed sheep and also dogs. (The tail of one sheep traded by the Dutch weighed 9 kg). Theirs was a more structured tribal society and they lived together in larger groups.  They co-existed with the San till the arrival of the Europeans and it is difficult from archaeological diggings to ascertain who lived in certain caves as goods were traded.  Pottery appears in the middens at this time. It is also difficult to know how the languages differed - the colonists recognised both as click languages but interpreters could not always communicate with all groups. Words like kudu, buchu and karos are derived from the Khoi. In many tribes San were kept as servants/slaves by the Khoi and later formed mixed groups.  Later, especially near the Cape, they were known as the Khoisan. 

Grazing in Western Cape is low in nutrients but limited numbers of domesticated animals could be kept.  In about 1300, cattle bones appear in diggings near dwellings.  These animals were obtained from tribes in the Eastern Cape who did not colonise the winter rainfall area as their crops relied on summer rain. The Chainouqua tribe was a powerful Khoisan tribe near Caledon and later brought hundreds of cattle to trade with the colonists. These animals were well trained and would come at a call from their owners. (There is a story that a band of Khoi sold a herd of cattle to the officials from the castle and left.  When they were some distance away in the hills they called the cattle which were being driven towards Cape Town. The cattle turned round and stampeded back to their masters --- emptor caveat! ) They were also ridden and used as pack animals so possibly files of the animals would have come down the kloof laden with children and goods when the owners came to forage on the beach here and camp in the cave in the kloof. (At times they sharpened the horns of oxen and rode them into battle, but I do not think they ever found this area worth fighting for.) What the Khoikhoi called the area near Rooiels is not known. It was not a preferred territory as grazing is limited and the bands who lived here were relatively impoverished. 

**The Cape Herders - A History of the Khoikhoi of Southern Africa by E Boonzaier, P Berens, C Malherbe, A Smith. Published by David     Philip, 1996.

 The cave in the kloof of the Rooiels River has been excavated - unfortunately too often. In 1921, Arthur Divine, an enthusiastic amateur archaeologist, heard that there was a cave possibly containing “relics”. (He wrote a “report” of his work and sent it to the SA museum.) He hired a boat from the Strand on a Saturday morning and got 4 labourers to work for him at 4 shillings and 6 pence a day.  It was a calm day but they had engine trouble and spent 10 hours at sea before returning to the harbour. He had to promise the workers extra before they would set out with him on the Sunday and walk to Rooiels from Gordon’s Bay.  They arrived at 4.30pm and set to work with 4 spades. No attempt was made to record where, or at what level, objects were found.  He found bedrock at 2m at the back of the cave sloping to the front and the debris was made of bones,shells, stone tools, pottery, ash, a wooden fish hook and leather (the last two probably from a more recent date). Then near the back of the cave he came upon a ‘grooved stone’ and under it a skeleton. He does not say how the body was buried, but from other sites we know that it was probably in a sitting position. They dug all week and found 11 skeletons, 2 of them of infants. He did not determine the sex or the cause of death and of course could not date them. He theorised that one child might be that of a settler family reported stolen in the previous century, but does not say if it looked more recent or was buried differently. On Friday the labourers refused to work any longer and he dismissed them - to walk home. He persuaded some campers in the bay to help him. On Sunday, he hitched a lift home in a motorboat, taking the bones and other objects. 

Some of the shell and stone tools he collected are in the SA museum but not the skeletons.  Did the people die at the same time? Did their families move away and leave the cave? We will never know.  In 1922 Keppel Barnard, who had heard about the diggings and also wanted souvenirs, came to dig the cave. He too wrote to the museum later.  He had trouble getting labourers as Divine had given the diggings a bad reputation. He dug up the other area at the back but found no human bones only tools and pottery (the vessels had ears which shows skill by the potter.) He mentions that at the top was evidence of recent fires, under that a layer of sand and humus and under that the layers of shells, artefacts and charcoal. (This seems to indicate that the cave was used in the previous 50 or more years but abandoned for some time before that.)  


In 1979, Andrew B Smith of UCT, and Graham Avery, excavated the cave scientifically.  They chose an area near the front, the only one that had not been disturbed. They found no human remains but decorated ostrich shell beads, stone scrapers and other tools.  The shells and bones were analysed,  showing what game and other foodstuffs were available for the inhabitants. Hippopotamus bones - picture them in our lagoon - otters, seals, crayfish and small buck, even birds like albatross and flamingo made up part of the diet. The bird bones were also used for tools. The earliest were dated at 5000 years ago with others right up to the 19th century. (The top layer of modern campers was ignored.)

In December 1998, while visiting the cave with a group of people from Rooiels, a student in marine biology at the University of Cape Town pointed out to me the large amount of big limpet shells.  He says that these are not found around the Cape – only further up along the west coast.  As the Khoisan would not have carried these over any distance, the sea temperature or conditions must have changed.

** South African Archaeological Bulletin no 36, pages 75-87. AB Smith 1981:   An archaeological investigation of Holocene  deposits at Rooiels  cave, and  G Avery: Late Holocene avian  remains from Rooiels cave   Western  Province. (The letters  written to the museum by the two previous  diggers are also published in the same issue.)

EARLY HISTORY
We are inclined to think that the written history of the Cape began with Van Riebeeck, but it was well known far earlier.  The Ancient World knew that Africa was a continent only joined to Asia at the Red Sea.  In the 5th century BC, Herodotus, the Greek Historian, related an interesting story. After Necho 11, Pharoah of Egypt (609 - 594) BC, had failed to conquer King Nebuchadnezzar of Mesopotamia and expand to the north-east, ( so people in the Bible affected the history of Rooiels!) he turned his attention to the south and tried to build a canal from the Mediterranean to the Red Sea.  One hundred and twenty thousand labourers died in the searing heat of the desert before he abandoned the tremendous task. He then commissioned some Phoenician ships to sail from the Red Sea and return via the Pillars of Heracles (Gibraltar). The Phoenicians were the traders and explorers of the old world and had already sailed to the Canaries and India.  They would have remained close inland relying on sail, but the whole crew would also row if necessary. It was their habit to pull into shore if possible each night to camp and to stay at likely places for months to sow and reap crops and to hunt. They are reported to have returned after three years. Herodotus dismisses the tale because of the one detail that makes it interesting to us. He reports that the sailors insisted that the sun was in the north as they rounded the Cape. 

Did their decked galley anchor in our little bay to obtain water? It is nice to think so.  There were many stories that they had entered False Bay and that there was a wreck of a ship on the Cape flats (that they had sailed up the Elsjieskraal River).  Wood of a ship was reported to have been found near Hardekraaltjie (now the caravan park in Bellville.) Luitenant-Governor Darling asked Charles Bell to look into it in 1852. (Bell was the Surveyor- general of the Cape at the time; he was also an artist of some note- designed the Cape triangular stamp and made many sketches and paintings of life at the Cape.) He made a preliminary investigation and was excited by his finds.  In a letter to Darling he wrote, “I am compelled to believe that the wood is part of a vessel 70 ft long washed up here when the sea level was higher.” Darling granted him £20 to hire people to do the digging but there is no trace that the money was claimed or any report of his findings. Thomas Bain later inspected the site and dismissed the story.   More detail can be found in Robin Knox-Johnston's fascinating book - A Maritime History of the Cape Of Good Hope.  In 1980 students from the Cape Town University dug a trench there but found nothing. 

The next sailors in these seas were the Arabs.  They had reached Dar-es-Salaam by 100 AD and near Durban by 400 AD. Did they round the Cape?  Their maps of 1000 AD show the point of Africa, and Bushmen paintings in the South-West Cape show pictures of ships, but cannot be dated. It is possible that Javanese sailors also rounded the Cape.  They traded with the east coast and might have introduced the banana and other non-African foods to West Africa. The Chinese definitely knew quite a bit about the area and a chart of 1400 of Ch'uan Chin shows the shape of South Africa fairly clearly with the mountains and rivers roughly where they are known to lie. Rene Juta in The Cape Peninsula relates that “ on the old planisphere of Semito, made in 1306, the …shape of Africa is shown and it is stated that an Indian junk coming from the east circumnavigated this Cape Diab."

Any of these groups might eventually have started a colony here, in which case we would now look very different! (Imagine a pagoda on the lagoon.) But Western Europe had a technological problem - they had no refrigeration and had to rely on spices to preserve food (and hide the taste of bad meat). After the Muslims conquered eastern Europe in 1453 and Constantinople fell, the overland route to the east and the spices, was closed.  The race was on to find a sea route. The Portuguese, Bartholomew Diaz, was to be the first to round the Cape in 1487, and on his return journey entered False Bay.  He called it Golfo Dentro das Serras (gulf inside the mountains), and described it as "a vast bay, six leagues broad at its mouth". The Portuguese sailors first called Hangklip,  Ponta Espinhosa   (Thorny Point) and later Cabo Falso (False Cape). If the boats entered this bay, the south-easter could easily blow them onto the rocks near Macassar or Simonstown.  Later False Bay took its name from the point.

The importance of this discovery to the Portuguese is shown in the fact that in the next 20 years, 234 of their ships were to round the Cape as they consolidated their empire in the east. They made no effort to set up an outpost here and would only stop to barter for livestock and get fresh water.  The average time of a voyage to India was 7 months, the ships were crowded with up to 500 persons, no attempt at cleanliness was made and the conditions were appalling, 

half the crew of the Portuguese boats would die during the voyage.      Dias  left Portugal with more than 400 people and returned with 200. An individual ship would only last 8 years on the Cape run and make 4 voyages.

In 1503, Antonio de Saldanha, unsure of where he was, climbed Table Mountain and described False Bay and Cape Hangklip.    In 1581 Sir Francis Drake was to sail around the Cape and his chaplain was to record it as "the fairest cape in all the circumference of the earth".  Thomas Cavendish in 1588 wrote "we espied the land ... called Cabo Falso ... which is easy to be known: for there are right over it three very high hills  ... and the highest stands in the midst and the land is lower by the seaside."  From the bay he probably saw Buffelstalberg as lying between Klein Hangklip and Hangklip. 

 The English and later the Dutch were to establish a stronger influence in the east, largely because of superior ships and better hygiene and discipline on them. (On the English ships the decks were washed down daily with vinegar water and later the sailors were made to eat limes daily.) On the way round the Cape these ships would stop along the coast at likely anchorages for water and would remain for a week or two to hunt and fish.  In 1608 John Jourdan, an English captain, stayed at the Cape for 3 months and wrote about the possibility of building a fort. In 1615, ten condemned prisoners were offloaded here but a year later only 3 survived and were taken back to England and pardoned. The French were more interested in a harbour at Saldanha than at the Cape but of course landed here too.  Augustin de Beaulieu, in 1620, walked round the mountain at Cabo Falso "where there are many rocks which jut far out to sea and where ships would hardly be safe from with a south-easterly wind".  He met people there but was not impressed as they wore few clothes and would not enter the sea to fish beyond knee-high. (Nowadays some people at Rooiels wear even less but do swim further out to sea.)

** The Cape of Good Hope - a Maritime History by Robin Knox   Johnston.    1989; Hodder and Stoughton. 

** A Bay between the Mountains - Arderne Tredgold, 1985 Human and      Rossouw

THE DUTCH EAST INDIA COMPANY

      The Vereenigde Oos-Indiese Companje, the VOC, established a huge empire in the East, ruling Java, large parts of Indonesia and even trading with Japan. (The Shoguns there were strongly opposed to Christians, 26 were crucified in Nagasaki in 1597 and 150 burnt in 1622. From 1640 till 1853, the Dutch were the only European power allowed to trade in Japan. It was reported that the Shogun had assembled all foreign traders and commanded them to trample on the sign of the cross.  Only the Dutch obeyed and were allowed to stay.)  The VOC did very well initially paying yearly dividends to their shareholders of up to 40%  till 1720. From 1610 to 1700, at least  1730 Dutch ships of the Companje sailed  around the Cape (an average of 19 a year) and it was no wonder that, in 1652,  they  decided to open a refreshment station in Table Bay where so many of their boats stopped. What is often forgotten is that this was to be a station run for profit by a commercial enterprise, not a colony. The Cape was regarded as a poor area and not worth trading in. The charter that had been given to the VOC by the Prince of Orange gave them sole right to trade in the Indian and Pacific Oceans, so Cape Town was actually outside their area. (A similar fort to that at Cape Town was built in Delagoa Bay (Maputo) but was abandoned 9 years later because of the mosquitoes.) 

***Jan Kompanje by Dan Sleigh : 1978 Tafelberg

An interesting article written by Prof C F Muller for the magazine  Historia, (kindly sent to me by Dr Carl Vogt)  tells that in September 1652,  after a long wet winter in tents and continuous hard labour building the earth fortifications for Van Riebeeck's first fort, four of his soldiers felt very homesick and hard-done-by and deserted (Jan Janz, Jan Blanx, Willem Huijtjens and Gerrit Dircksz). Armed with two pistols, four swords and accompanied by their dog, they headed north-east in the hope of walking to Mozambique (!!) and then getting a boat to Europe. Their only provisions were four rusks and some fish. After days of struggling through the bush, they reached Gordon's Bay where two rhinoceros charged them.  Jansz lost his sword and hat in the panic and they began to regret their decision. Their dog was injured by a porcupine and at the little stream they were surprised by two ostriches.  On the beach they found shellfish and birds eggs to eat.  They tried to cross the "seer hogen bergh aan de zee"  ( near Sir Lowry's Pass or Kogelbay?) .  On the sixth day the others also lost heart and they returned to the castle and their punishment (keel-hauling and being forced to work as slaves in irons for two years). All this was written up in a diary which in itself was against company rules, as  employees of the VOC were prohibited from keeping personal  diaries and from drawing any maps.  In spite of the harsh treatment they received, others followed their example, and in 1659, Van Riebeeck reports having trouble with bands of  “deserters and Hottentots  who stole cattle and fled to the mountains in the east.” It was because of this that Harry (Autshomato) the interpreter, was imprisoned on Robben Island - the first of many prisoners. These bands were to play an important part in the later history of Rooiels.


The tale of the soldiers hardships and their description of the harsh terrain made an impression and it was only in 1655 that Van Riebeeck decided to explore the region and sent a scouting party under Corporal Muller to the mountains at eastern mouth of the bay.  Their goods were carried by pack-oxen and they were led by Harry, the Strandloper interpreter. (A few years before the arrival of Van Riebeeck, he had been taken up on an English ship on the way to Java and offloaded 6 months later. He had learnt to speak English and some Dutch and his ability to interpret had given him status in his tribe.) They camped at the Strand for two days and the Strandlopers ate a whale that had washed up there. They then travelled east and south but the descriptions are vague and it is unsure if they only reached Kogelbay or travelled around Hangklip as far as Palmiet. They reported that there were no cattle or sheep to barter and that the area was inhospitable and no further attempts were made to explore by land.


The VOC strictly controlled fishing and the selling of fish.  Later a few free Burghers were to be given permits but otherwise it was forbidden. (This was mainly to prevent them from smuggling and selling to foreign ships to make a little private money!)  In 1671 the Companje started a post, at the now Gordon's Bay, to catch fish for the Company and ship the loads to the Castle. They called it Visch Hoek or Visch Baaij  (later there was to be a Visch Hoek on the western shore of the bay.) In 1683, after the wreck of the De Grundel at Hangklip (see under WRECKS), the governor sent out a boat to look for wreckage and found evidence that Free Burgers had landed in little boats to fish and collect mussels to burn for lime in the bays south of Gordon's Bay. So, although we have peopled our bay with Phoenician galleys, dhows, junks and other sailing ships, it was probably a little rowing boat with a home-made sail that first landed on Rooiels beach.

It was only in 1687 that a further exploration of the area was made, when Simon van der Stel instructed the Noord to chart False Bay.  He accompanied the crew on several trips.   They approached Rooiels but did not land because of the shallow bay and described the stretch of coast as "heel steijl klippig".  Maasbaai was regarded as the best small harbour.  On the charts the name “Hang Lip" appears next to Caap Fals. (This name was to persist for a long time: afterwards to be used intermittently with Hangklip.  Even the Caledon Divisional Council map of 1917 gives it as Hanglip). The bay is drawn inaccurately as narrow and deep with a large river emptying into it maybe the Steenbras was bigger. Overland the exploration and settlement was over the Gandouw Pass (path of the eland) later called Elandspas, to the more fertile valleys of the Overberg. (Near the now Sir Lowry's Pass the wagon tracks worn into the rock can still be seen north of the lookout at the top of the pass). WA van der Stel claimed the area as his own and built 15 outposts for his thousands of sheep.  Only in 1707 when he was recalled to Holland for using his position to enrich himself, (this type of politician seems to stay around!) could the Free Burgers move into the area. Most chose to go to Houw Hoek and crossed the mountains to the coast and fertile Caledon area. There were settlers along the Palmiet River which was originally called the Koutema (snake river) by the inhabitants.

In 1739 Andreas Grove, originally from Viborg, Denmark, who had worked for the VOC, obtained the lease of the area around Hangklip north to the Buffels River at Pringle Bay, as a veepos (grazing station) on the quitrent system. He called it Welgemoet. Nicholas Mulder leased Waey de Gat in the valley above Rooiels in the same year.  Why they chose these farms is uncertain - the hunting and fishing were good - but the only way here, was over Elandspas, then from Botriver all along the coast through the dense bush of the kloofs (any climber will know how scratchy and exhausting it is to walk through fynbos if there is no path.) Only at very low tide, could the lagoon at Palmiet be crossed by a wagon and span of oxen. Dawidskraal and Pringle Bay beaches were also difficult crossings. It must have been a daunting task to drive sheep and cattle over this distance. There was a rough track from Gordon's Bay along which a pack horse could be led, but the load had to be removed at places and the slope of the mountains is so steep that sheep would not walk along it.  The path led to the Rooiels lagoon and then up the river, over the mountainside to the valley above or along the coast around Hangklip. The shepherds had to contend with poor grazing, leopards and the occasional lion, and loneliness. It must have been a desolate place with the howling of the wind drowning the roars of the predators. But they had another problem.

In the 17th century runaway slaves had little chance of survival as the Khoi tribal system did not admit them.  By the 18th century, the tribes had been broken up by smallpox and driven north by colonists. Remnants of the Strandlopers,  joined by  deserters from the army and the VOC, sailors who jumped ship (the conditions on board were so appalling that anything must have seemed better)  and runaway slaves,  had settled in this area and found their sheep easy prey. Here they were safe as authorities found it too difficult to get here and the rocks and thickly wooded kloofs offered good hiding places.  The bands were to remain here for the next 150 years. After two years the farmers informed Governor Swellengrebel that they were abandoning the posts.

It was only in 1760 that anyone was again interested and Ryk Tulbach gave the quit-rent farm, Welgemoet, to  Adrian Louw senior.  Four years later he also rented the neighbouring area Het Waaygat , the valley above Rooiels to Silversands which was a better proposition as it had water and better grazing (but more wind). From 1774 his widow paid the rent and in 1780,  Jacobus Louw, a son, took over both farms.  Their nearest neighbours were a veepos at De Steenbraazems Rivier  and one at Aan de draaij van en aan de Mond van de Bot Rivier. 

All over the world, collectors and botanists were inspired by the many new plants brought to Europe at this time and it was the fashion amongst the rich and influential to have extensive green houses and gardens.  The Cape flora was sought after and in 1777, Joseph Banks, the famous botanist at Kew, sent the 21-year old William Paterson to the Cape to collect specimens and study the plants. (Later he was to become the Lieutenant-Governor of New South Wales) He was accompanied on his trip along the coast by the well-read and educated Colonel Robert Gordon, a Scot, commander of the Dutch troops at the Cape.  They left Cape Town in early October and the crying of the strandjutte (brown hyenas) followed them to Vergelegen where they slept. He describes the luxurious house and the camphor trees then 10 m high.  They sent the wagons with their luggage over the pass and on the 12th, carrying some food, attempted the narrow path along the sea by horseback. On the steep mountainside near Steenbrasmond the others dismounted, but not the young Paterson. Then his horse slipped and rolled to the sea.   He rescued himself by clinging to a bush and clambering up the cliff. That night they camped at Kogelbaai, then noted on no chart. Gordon, who was charting the shore, named it after Governor van Plettenberg but the name was not accepted at the castle. The next day they led the horses to Rooiels, which he named Patterson’s Bay and on to Pringle Bay, which Gordon named after himself. (The name was later transferred to Visch Hoek and Pringle Bay named after Admiral J Pringle who was there in 1796. This makes the early documents confusing.) There they celebrated by drinking some wine brought from Vergelegen. Paterson was excited by "a new species of erica with a spike of long tubular yellow flowers, the most beautiful I had ever seen" (Erica Patersoni).  They saw bontebok, eland and many buffalo and named the river after them. But their food was now finished and it started raining heavily. They had to swim the swollen Palmiet only to spend a miserable night trapped by the Kleinmond River. At last they arrived at the house of Michael Otto who had lived at De Kromme Rivier aan de Knoffelhook’s Kraal  since 1730. Near the Botriver lions threatened them and their horses. They reported that the area was rich in plant species but that the grazing was poor and that they had seen no inhabitants at all.   This was probably due to the rain and the fact that they had kept to the beaches.   

In 1778, a boat of the English East India Company, the Colebrook, struck a rock at the entrance of False Bay. She was leaking badly and the north-west wind drove her towards Kogelbaai where she stranded. Some of the crew could be offloaded onto  accompanying boats, but a storm had arisen and  several drowned in their efforts to reach land. Some survivors walked on to Gordon’s Bay to get help.  The last lifeboat, crowded with 57 men, was tossed about for two days before it beached.  John Elliott was the third officer of the Colebrook 

and wrote his memoirs of Cape Town, published by the SA Library. He took a small boat and with a few men rowed to Simonstown. There was a severe winter storm and they heard that the boat had broken up. Salvage was suspended till better weather. Elliot was put up at Meerlust and enjoyed his stay. Three weeks later he left with officials to the present Strand and struggled "12 long miles over mountains where nothing more than man can go" to the wreck. They found the beach strewn with wreckage but very little of the cargo was left. What remained was auctioned in Cape Town and only brought in £177.  The Landdros of Stellenbosch, MA Bergh, complained that "een grote meenigte Inwoonders  en meede gebragte Hottetots en Slaaven, van Stellenbosch, … Hottentots Holland , ja selfs iujt Swellendam … " plundered the wreck. The Free Burgers regarded wrecks as a sea-sent opportunity for booty! Some would have come along the coast by boat and some over the mountains.  In this way the area became better known. Some of the English sailors had deserted (not surprising if one reads how they were treated!) A troop of 7 men was sent to find the cargo and the deserters - no success was reported. It was easy for the sailors to find work on lonely farms.  By this 'immigration by shipwreck'  English and other foreign surnames were found in outlying districts in the 18th century.  Some of these men might have joined the bands at Hangklip.  

In 1780 Gordon drew a fairly accurate map of the area and we see that it was now far better known. 'Colebrook's Baaij' is shown with the mountain behind marked at 3300 ft, 850 ft too low. (Three years later it is marked as Cole Baaij on the maps and later as Kogel Baaij . That the name was derived from the wreck is likely, but it could also have been named from the  shape of the mountains or the rocks or from kegel, from the whirlpool currents in the bay.) A path to Rooiels is marked, with the bay called after Paterson and the valley along the river is called 'Waaihoek'. Between Paterson’s Bay (Rooiels) and Pringle Bay a Van Kloppens Baai and a Cubus Baai are marked. A farm is marked near Silversands but not the Louw's veepos ; probably there were no buildings. Otherside Hangklip the bays are not marked. 
THE NINETEENTH CENTURY 


By now the VOC was in financial trouble. (VOC was mockingly said to stand for Vergaan Onder Corrupsie) ! and during the American War of Independence, France and Holland sided against England. In 1781 the French under Admiral Suffren took over the defence of the Cape for 3 years and Cape Town experienced a gay social life. Then the Companje again took over but trouble with their erstwhile ally France was looming and they did not want problems in far-off,  unproductive outposts. The British took over in 1795 and Colonel Gordon committed suicide when his defence of the Cape was criticised. The Cape lost a talented man and superb cartographer. The English were to take over the Cape finally in 1806. The Cape entered a new era as the British administered it as a colony and developed it , unlike the VOC.
The area to the Fish River had been charted and was inhabited by colonists and to the north and west the land was settled with towns and roads, but nearby, just across the bay from Cape Town, it was isolated and wild.  The trip overland was dangerous and there was not much to tempt exploration. Here was only a handful of impoverished stockposts. 

In good weather however, many boats left Simonstown for the opposite coast to fish and hunt here secretly.  The VOC pursued a policy of monopolies and strict controls over trade, but here, near Cape Town, the isolated bays offered an ideal opportunity for smuggling and private trade.  Ships from the east would anchor near the shore and sell spices and goods to farmers before proceeding to the Cape and the official buyers at the Castle. Whalers and men-of-war of other countries and even pirates, could also stay over and ship fresh water, hunt and fish and trade for fresh produce.  Rooiels Bay with its sandy beach and fresh water must have been ideal.  


Haven for drosters, pirates and outlaws

In this wild refuge still lived a band of runaway slaves, Strandlopers, deserters and sailors. This band was relatively successful as there was plenty of fish, veldkos and game, even buffalo and eland, and they had weapons and their own boat. However they also wanted sheep, cattle and luxuries, and raided farms near Somerset West and Kleinmond for these. They ambushed and robbed wagons bringing produce to the Cape market over the Elandspad (the old pass near Sir Lowry's Pass). The stories tell that they drove the stolen animals along the beaches at low tide so the tracks would be erased and also hid them in the cave at Kogelbaai of which the entrance is hidden at high tide. (The cave is just other side Kogelbaai beach where the cliffs start and the surfers park.  A path leads down to a secluded beach and the caves, which are 10-20 metres deep. Take a torch and wait for low tide.) 

In 1802, the enterprising Lady Anne Barnard stayed overnight at Vergelegen, then already over a century old.  The next morning she left its luxury and elegance and crossed the pass. They took guards and she describes it as desolate and dangerous. “I was horrified to see how much the poor oxen had suffered in our service; their sides were streaming with blood …We had to engage a further team of 12 oxen to help us over Howehook, another tremendous hill.”   She does mention the beauty of the flowers and views. Few of the earlier travellers appreciated the Cape scenery - they described it as bare and unproductive.  After months at sea most were longing for green hills and trees, an adventurous “night life” and civilisation.

At the end of the 18th century, these bands raided a party crossing the pass, killed the servants and took the cattle and two children - a boy, Simon, and a girl - to the cave in the Rooiels Kloof. They wanted someone literate to forge pass documents for them and the girl was forced to do so.  She included a sentence saying that they had been captured and were being held in a cave along the coast. The veldkornet, Jan Linde, let some cattle graze near the Steenbras River and watched them from hiding.  When the drosters came to steal them he followed the party, but they moved to the cave at Pringle Bay and barricaded the mouth holding the children there as hostages. At length, Barend Simon, a relative of the boy, let himself down with a rope to the entrance, shot the leader and rescued the children. About 40 drosters were shot - only one old woman is said to have survived.  (Drostersgat is on private ground on one of the small holdings on the way to Pringle Bay. We were shown it by the owner - it is difficult to find, in a steep inlet washed by the sea, and entrance can only be gained by letting yourself down by rope between the slanting rock walls - an isolated and daunting place. We have not yet explored it but I have heard from Marius Theron of Pringle Bay that it is not deep - has part fallen in?  Were we shown the right cave?) An official report of the incident was in the Cape Archives but Lawrence Green could not find it. Stoffel Albertyn, who lived in Onrus in the 1890's , told him that he had visited the cave at Pringle Bay and found skeletons, the remains of game and proof of fires.)          

A Hollander who came to the Cape and the warm baths at Caledon for health reasons in 1825, M D Teenstra, writes in his De Vruchten Mijner Werkzaamheden about the trouble caused by these bands. His coach driver, Koos Swart, an ancestor of the well known Dr Con De Villiers of Stellenbosch, told him that, while some of the drosters guarded  the caves and the women and children, others would go on robbing expeditions to steal tools, weapons, clothes and livestock for the month. He had a slave who had joined the robbers for 16 years and then returned to him. Teenstra was sceptical but later at Caledon heard that a farmer and his slave, both on horseback, had been waylaid on the pass, stripped of clothing and robbed.  After being given a hiding they were allowed to ride away. A runaway slave who was at the time in jail said that there were three bands near Hangklip - a total of 80 men. Also,  Teenstra tells, 5 oxen had been stolen from another farmer. The Veldkornet, Kleyn, had left in pursuit. After 6 days of searching all he found were empty caves near Rooiels and the biltong of 21 cattle! Some other expeditions were more successful and he writes of 14 gang members who were captured, but as late as 1880 the authorities still mounted raids against the ‘drosters’.

According to  S E Hudson’s journal  1803-4, these bands were in contact with the slaves and “underworld” (ancestors of the Cape Flats gangs?) at Cape Town.  “ They have agents in Cape Town among the Malay and even free people who furnish them with rice and whatever they need.”  They were even provided with weapons.  He mentions the cave at Pringle Bay, “which by all accounts is one of the curiosities of Africa.  Cave within cave …and two openings to them;  the one from the rocks a single person may defend and that from the sea inaccessible except in …  particular weather, with sunken rocks around the entrance for miles and the tide washes into the cavern for a considerable way ….. At certain times boats can approach this dangerous place and the fishing slaves are well acquainted with the favourable period of escaping.  About Simonstown , the inhabitants have frequently lost their slaves - and boats - and this is their constant hiding place. ”

Unfortunately no records available give personal information about these inhabitants of Rooiels. Were there families that stayed on here for a hundred years or were the bands constantly changing?   Who were the leaders and how were they chosen?  Whose was the boat?  There must have been among them those with skills in sailing and veldcraft.

The landowners near Rooiels


The Louw family still rented the veepos at Rooiels.  From S Kriek's contribution to the Encyclopaedia of South Africa, I learnt that the farm, Rooi Els, of 1331 morgen , 15 km south of Gordon’s Bay, was personally granted as freehold to Adrian Johannes Louw on 30 April 1839 by Sir George Napier, Governor of the Cape Colony. Part of the conditions are still to be seen in the title deeds today.   “That the road and thoroughfare leading to Waaygat Bay shall also remain free and that the public shall be allowed to unteam their cattle at the said bay - and be allowed without hindrance to fish there.”  He was also “bound to have brought (..the land..)  into such a state of cultivation as it is capable of” .  The farm, Hanglip, was first given as a freehold farm in 1841 to J A Louw. (The same man?  A brother?)  How much actual success they made from farming is not known. According to George Ryke, the remains of an old building built of stone and clay, stood in the valley near the place where the road crosses the Buffels River. Unfortunately it was demolished. Whether this was a small farmhouse or the shelter of the shepherds, we will never know. Waaygat was obtained by GH Maasdorp in 1824 from the estate of A Louw for 32 rijksdalers.  Welgemoed was given to JA Louw in 1841 .  It stretched to the Palmiet. In 1902, LC Phillips  bought Kogelbay and in 1912,  F Cook applied for the right to catch whales there. This option was not taken up as he then started the whaling station at Betty’s Bay. Many Cunonia Capensis (rooiels trees) grew in the kloofs but were felled with the stinkwood,  yellow-wood and milkwood trees  for furniture, shipbuilding and floors! On the mountains there is still a small remnant of forest (Kleinbos/ Louwsbos) of yellow wood, cunonia, and assegai trees. This is the last reminder here of the indigenous forest that once stretched all the way from Knysna along the kloofs. The valleys were regularly burned to provide better grazing and the rhinos, buffalo and lion were hunted to extinction. The flat space where the most of the Rooiels houses are was sand dunes covered in scrub.

** Prof C F J Muller: Uit die Vroegste Geskiedenis van Kaap Vals;          Historia  Magazine.  

** Lawrence  Green : South African Beachcomber;  Howard  Timmins -  Cape       Town

** S E Hudson; Journal of a Cape Resident 1803-4

** HA Luckhoff : The Early History of the Kogelberg and Cape  Hangklip     Areas , Veld and Flora , Vol 68  March 1982

THE TWENTIETH CENTURY 

As we have seen, the charter of Rooiels ensured free access for the public to fish at Waaigat Bay where the Rooiels River runs into the sea. In the late 1800's the bands seem to have lost their hold on this last outpost; family of the Louws, the Albertyns and Luckhoffs from Caledon, would camp here for holidays to fish and hunt. Kleinmond was established in 1910 on the old Lamloch farm and a fishing and holiday community developed there. The Palmiet remained a difficult crossing for wagons .  

 Later other families came here for holidays too, especially by boat from   Gordon's Bay. Camping in those days was a far more complex undertaking than now - the campers would have to be self-sufficient for up to a month. There was no café to go to for bread!  From stories heard about holidays at Kleinmond and elsewhere, I know that a cage of chickens would be taken for eggs and Sunday dinner; a cupboard with netting-wire door for food; tables and chairs; wooden vats for preserving fish; a kneading trough; servants; a bed/s for older people and even a cow for milk for the children.  I can't see that it was done at Rooiels on quite this scale - a cow might be induced to swim ashore but I don't know how she would be got back onto the boat! ( PS Since writing the first edition I have been told that campers would take a cow for milk and then slaughter her the day before leaving. They had a huge braai and took some meat home.)

It was the ideal place for “adventure” holidays and school trips were  made  here in vacations. Mr Attwell, of Betty’s Bay came here with a master from Bishops in 1934-5 to camp and explore. I mentioned earlier the people who came to dig in the caves for archaeological souvenirs.  Mrs O'Kennedy (neè Miller) tells that in the 1920’s her family, then living in Gordon’s Bay,  would hire a boat.  It could not land but would tow a bakkie (dinghy) in which they would be rowed to shore with enough supplies for 3 weeks. They stayed in the kloof and her brothers hunted grysbok and duikers here.  Her father shot a leopard that was catching cattle and set the claw of the animal in gold. As a small child she had to walk barefoot in the lagoon and feel for soles so her father could spear them. They were also plentiful in the Pringle Bay lagoon. John Mitchell of Somerset West says that, 65 years ago, his father carried him from Steenbras to Rooiels in his fishing bag when he was three weeks old. They often returned there to camp and brought a wire cage in which to keep fish and meat as there were so many wild cats around.  As a child he would walk out on the rocks with a long handled gaff with a loop.   At low tide you could see the crayfish walking on the sea bamboo and would pick the one you wanted. Others tell that they would spend 4 days walking from Gordon's Bay, fishing from likely rocks along the way.  Geelbek and other fish were hung up to dry in trees along the shore to be collected on the way back. (There could not have been so many baboons in those days or they were more afraid of the scent of man!) The Steenbras River was far larger before the dam was built (a small one in 1921 which was enlarged in 1954) and difficult to cross except at very low tide. A rope bridge later spanned the gap. Even animals were induced to cross it. 

Mrs Joan McRae, now living in Knysna, sent me an interesting account of her childhood memories of holidays in Gordon’s Bay in the 1920’s. Here are some extracts.  “ Every year for 11 years our whole family used to go by train from Pretoria to the Cape for the six weeks holiday. We would arrive at the Strand station and were then met by someone with … a cute little horse and trap. Great fun! 

There was no road to the Steenbras River around the mountain. We used to walk along a narrow path, crossing numerous little streams. On their banks there were lovely ferns, arum lilies, heath and other flowers, and of course masses of proteas.  Once there we used to camp in caves along the river bed. There was no bridge over the river at that stage as the road had not been built. My mother and I used to go for walks in the veld which in those days, was white with chincherinchees. Unfortunately over the years they disappeared as the flower sellers pulled them up bulbs and all.  

One year my friend's father was washed off the rocks at the Steenbras River mouth by a huge, unexpected wave. His 11-year old son had jumped after him saying he was going to save his Dad and another man had to jump in as well to try and help. Both men dislocated a shoulder in the fall. The bridge builders threw large logs to them and the men, with one arm each, managed to hold themselves and the boy above water. They had been washed quite far out by this time and were in the water for over an hour and barely conscious when they were rescued by a fishing boat from Gordon’s Bay . There were lots of sharks at the river mouth so they were lucky to survive.” 

Students and young people found it a challenge to walk from the end of the road at Steenbras to Rooiels and over the mountain to Kleinmond. In 1930 Skakel Kriek  and Paul Sauer, while they were studying at Stellenbosch , walked all along the coast to Hermanus.  At the turn of the century walkers saw a  whale washed ashore at Kogelbay and the strandjutte (hyenas) were tearing at the meat and bones. 

Some inhabitants of Gordons Bay would ship dry cows and oxen to Rooiels. These animals would be trapped between the Palmiet and Rooiels Rivers and fattened through the winter. The veld would often be burnt to provide fresh grazing and was probably in a worse condition than now.  Then in Oct/Nov the cattle would be rounded up and divided according to brands and herded to the beach.  Here they were slaughtered and shipped to Simonstown. It must have been a horrible mess on the beach with blood and entrails and gulls fighting for titbits.  The title deeds of property now sold at Rooiels contain a clause dating from 1940, namely that “ no slaughter poles, cattle kraals ….. shall be erected.”  It is also stated that “ the owner shall not have the right to make .. any bricks tiles or earthenware pipes  …  or to dig or quarry any earth gravel or lime.”   Someone must have tried that too. (I did not realise that title deeds make interesting reading!)

The title owners do not have mining rights. John Muller tells that an experimental shaft was dug into the mountain to explore a vein of manganese in 1930. His grandfather was asked to assay the mineral and decide if the mine was economical.  He took 3 days to get there from Gordon’s Bay, leading a recalcitrant donkey carrying his equipment.  The mine proved worthless.  When the road was built the opening of the mine was lost in the cutting but the remains of the short tunnel can be seen in the side of the road about 2 kilometres from the bridge. There was another manganese mine earlier near Gordon’s Bay that was worked for some years. During the Anglo Boer War, there was a Boer prison camp at Gordon’s Bay and the prisoners were used to work the mine.  During weekends they were allowed to move about the town and played tennis against the town team.  

Hangklip had been sold to William Walsh, one of four brothers who owned the Caledon baths. He tried to start a fishery at Holbay in 1885, with sheds and cottages. There were plenty of fish caught by the Filipino and Malay crews. Unfortunately it was too far from markets for the produce and the boats could not cross the bay in bad weather.  It was lonely for the workers and the attempt failed. The remains of the stone cottages there can still be seen. 

Two of the Walsh sons, Jimmy and Tom, were diagnosed as having leprosy (about 1910) and, as the colonies at Hemel-en-Aarde and Onrus had been closed, were sent to Robben Island.  Tom died there and Jimmy escaped in a boat he built secretly. He was caught at his mother's home in Kimberley and sent back.  After thirteen years a doctor realised that he did not have leprosy (!!!) and he was released and often visited Hangklip. Green reports that he left a poem to his freedom in the cave at Rooiels. Unfortunately he died in motorbike accident soon afterwards. 

**  Lawrence Green -  South African Beachcomber
In 1899 the Walsh brothers, John and William bought the entire area from Palmiet to Rooiels for £2000.  In the 1930's John Walsh and his wife were killed in a tragic accident and the court decreed that the properties be sold to provide funds for the children's education. They were bought for £20 000 by A Youldon, Jack Clarence and Harold Porter who formed the  Hangklip Beach Estates Ltd.  Pringle Bay area was proclaimed in 1936 and Rooiels in 1942.  On 23 June 1948, the area between the foot of Klein Hangklip and the sea was declared a township.  The original plots sold for R600 and the price went up very slowly. Then no thought was given to the environment and the consequences of road building and towns on the ecology. Looking at the map drawn by the estate then and the division of the plots, it is difficult to believe that the surveyor and planner ever visited the site. (Vivian Main showed me the original plans drawn by Nora Green, who worked for the planning division in Johannesburg.) Harriet Wall of Carit Estates showed me the original advertisement drawn up to sell plots in the area.   It is a fanciful brochure with effusive descriptions of the attractions and a map depicting house boats planned on the Palmiet , (there was one there for years till about 1964), a golf course  in the valley (imagine smooth kikuyu lawns there and hitting a ball against the south-easter - or with it !)  and waterskiing  at Rooiels.  There even is an airport planned - as far as I can make out on the slopes of the peaks above the valley.   Between Clarence Drive and the lagoon, two parallel roads are drawn with plots on each side.  One plot crosses 10 contour lines!. Two hotel sites are given, a school planned next to the (much smaller) reserve and two business centres and a garage.  The local council is still struggling with the consequences of this short-sighted planning - it makes it possible for landowners to apply to erect cluster houses against the mountain and cement over  the point to build an hotel and parking places.

Till 1945 the only way here was still by boat or over Sir Lowry's Pass.  In 1914 a rope footbridge had been built over the Palmiet near where the bridge today is and in 1925 a ferry service was started to bring cars over the river. (Only in 1952 was the present bridge built and the others fell into disuse.)  A section of the road near Betty's Bay was operated as a toll road to the dissatisfaction of the residents.  The road continued along the coast past Pringle Bay, over a wooden bridge across the Rooiels River. It was just upstream of the present bridge and the pilings can still be seen. This track only went about 2 km further till the slope of the mountain was too steep. Dick Gresty of Omega built the old bridge and knew Harold Porter well.   When the plots were laid out, he told Dick to chose himself one.   At the time the sand dunes along the long beach were not there and their plot had a sea view. (Before the bridge was built, Dick once spent 3 weeks huddled in the cave as the river was in flood and he could not cross.) The prolonged isolation of the area undoubtedly helped to preserve the fynbos and prevented development although we are so near Cape Town, and the Strand and Gordon’s Bay were already popular holiday resorts. The wetlands of the lagoon were bigger and old photos show that the river ran to the sea on the opposite side of the beach or in winter divided into several channels.


SHIPS, SHIPPING AND WAR

Rooiels is not much influenced by ships and shipping . In the 1860's, watchers might have seen the tea-clippers vying for the fastest passage from the East to England. The Cutty Sark broke a rudder south of False Bay and hove to for 6 days there, preventing her from winning the famous race in 1872. The fastest time was then 99 days.  After the opening of Suez, steam-ships  took over and did the journey at first in 60 days.

During the First World War there was much naval activity across the bay at Simonstown and German boats laid sea mines off Dassen Island, Agulhas and Cape Point sinking several ships.  Less than 25 years later the world was again at war and in 1940, the German raider, Atlantis, laid 92 mines off Danger Point and Agulhas that sunk 3 ships. Some were cleared by minesweepers.  A crew member on of these boats told me that after a mine like that exploded against a boat, the spilt oil on the sea would burn and that the unlucky sailors who had jumped overboard would burn to death in the water.  They would watch helplessly as it was too dangerous for a rescue boat to approach.  Other mines washed ashore south of Danger Point but the rest were not found and as recently as 1986 a fishing boat near Danger Point snagged one. 

But it was the sea and especially the Second World War that was to bring the greatest change to Rooiels - easy access!  Radar was developed secretly in Britain and the USA just before the war and used to great effect in Britain’s defence.  South Africa was one of the places it was tested and 17 sites were later positioned around the Western Cape shores. In MIT Boston, the laboratory where some of the work was done has been preserved as a museum, and when my husband worked there in 1980, he was surprised to see photos of Hangklip. The buildings, screens and other equipment were con-structed by a highly secret group, the Special Signals Services (SSS).  As the whole project was so hush-hush, the South African scientists building the prototype, (under the command of Major, later Professor, Schonland and Captain Bozzoli, later rector of the Witwatersrand University) had to rely on components commonly used by radio amateurs and repairmen.  In spite of the fact that their technical literature was the Radio Amateurs’ Handbook, they managed to have the experimental apparatus working within two months. 

The station here was first built in 1942 and used to monitor shipping.  There were two radar screens, one (called Hangklip)  600 metres  straight up the mountain side a hard climb above the hotel and the other, called Silversands, lower down around the corner looking out over the later lighthouse site (it was only built in 1959), which was ‘manned’ by women.  The stand above the hotel can still be seen. We climbed up to it: two solid cement rooms with access to the roof  where the dish was.  It is just under the high rock cliff and has a panoramic view of the sea around the point. The hotel was built as a barracks for the technicians and watchers. How many of the visitors to the bar know that the building was part of a secret  history? Another station was built nearer Betty’s Bay, the former barracks is now Mooihawens. The personnel enjoyed their stay here in spite of being far from civilisation and used to picnic at Pringle Bay under the milkwood trees. There was then no rooikrans!!! ( it was planted by later home owners ) and they appreciated the beaches and fynbos. They were visited by the famous archaeologist, Abbé Breuil, the expert on the Neolithic cave art of France, who came to look at the Stone Age middens. He was in South Africa at the invitation of General Jan Smuts to study the rock paintings here. One of the technicians built up an extensive collection of arrow heads, axes and other artefacts that he found on the site near the hotel.  He sent it to Somerset West to his parents in a military truck, but the lorry driver threw the boxes out as he did not know why he should transport old stones.  

The activities of the SSS were kept so secret that most histories published after the war do not mention them and the valuable work they did.   Neither is it generally known that 28 vessels were sunk or damaged by submarines around the Western Cape coast. A visitor to the Hangklip bar was once told that a certain U-boat used to lie near Hangklip point and send a boat to fetch fresh fruit and vegetables. Somewhere, he was told, there is a book autographed by the captain. 

According to Knox-Johnston, the Germans and Japanese sank 252 ships in Cape waters and the South Atlantic during the war. 

** Thanks to John Muller (great nephew of C F Muller who wrote the article for Historia) for the information concerning the  radar stations  and to the  Special   Services Radar group and  Mr P Brain who wrote South African  Radar in  WW II.

ROOIELS TOWNSHIP
Initially the only communication for the radar personnel was by radio to Cape Point. To make access easier, it was decided to build a proper road from Steenbras to the point and construction was started in 1942.  (Earlier the developers, under Jack Clarence, had started to build a road, but it proved very expensive. They used convict labour and housed the men in the old jail.) It was not an easy road to build and there were many nervous truck drivers with few places to turn. The road was built without any bulldozers - only spades and picks  - even the holes needed for the frequent blasting were drilled by hand. An old resident told me that she remembers the foreman who sped along the rough track in his jeep accompanied by his two tame baboons.  Italian prisoners- of-war were used as labourers (as they were in the building of Du Toit's Kloof) and housed, first in makeshift barracks near Steenbras, then at Kogelbay and finally in what is now the Jewish holiday camp, Netzer Maginim, next to the road where the bridge spans the river before the turnout to Pringle Bay.     


Because of the transport problem little interest was shown at first in the new townships. Till the end of the war this was a military road; there was a gate and guard at Steenbras and a permit was needed. Paul Zwick tells that his grandfather, George Blake of Blake’s Bricks, Stellenbosch, (unfortunately not our branch of the family) knew the builder and the guards and got a permit to use the road.  In 1946 he bought a plot at Rooiels, no 52, on the dunes above the beach and started building the next year.  To reinforce the concrete to withstand the weight of the dunes, he inserted brass rods in the foundations. As there was no slipway, he fetched dynamite from the quarry he operated near Lynedoch, blasted a way through the rocks and laid a concrete foundation.  The boat club should offer him a vote of thanks! Next to the slipway he built the cement pillar (still standing) and painted it with red white and blue bands so that he could look out of his window and know how high the tide was.  There was also a winch affixed to the top to bring the boats into the harbour. To stabilise the sand blowing into the house, he planted the first Rooikrans trees! (fortunately not our branch of the family.)  There was a fence along the road that still went around the coast, and a gate with a gatekeeper guarding the entrance to the town.   

In the next year the Prices started building their house above the beach.  There was an oversupply of (badly planned) beach erven at that time stretching out along the coast to Hermanus and beyond and the plots sold slowly. By 1981 only 125 erven were developed, 39% of the total.  In this same year the picnic area above the bridge was closed to the public and fenced off because of litter. In the late 1950’s there was a problem with tramps and drug users (early flower children? the grandchildren of the drosters?) who camped out in the kloof cave and in one just under the road near Leopard’s  Leap.  To prevent them staying there the mouth of the second cave was dynamited.

Issie Ryke opened the first shop here in 1970 as George had been building in this area for years. For years there was only a café-cum-shop and hardware store.   Now we have estate agents and a bar as well!  From 1992-98 the road was redone as a special project. The result is aesthetically pleasing and blends with the environment.   

THE SOMCHEM  SAGA - Encounter with the arms industry
(I am indebted to Geoff Harris of the Rooiels Rate Payers Association for sending me a summarised account of the Association’s dealings with the company over nearly 20 years and to Dr Dennis Cowen and Jean Cowen who gave valuable input. For the purpose of publication in this booklet, I could only write a short version. Any omissions or errors that I inadvertently may have made, are thus my responsibility.)

The entire Somchem affair reads like the script for a soap opera - secret deals, power politics, and court room dramas. In 1979 Som-chem  (Armscor), a parastatal company, ‘rented’ (R25 a year!) Portion 186 from the Caledon Divisional Council for an indefinite duration. This portion lies north-east of the road through the valley and encompasses 400 hectares in the mountains. It had been set aside as a declared catchment area for the Buffelsrivier dam which was built in 1972 to supply water to the townships. It is near the middle of the Kogelberg Biosphere Reserve - the area with the richest diversity of plants. There were at the time still eland there. Somchem were to use the place to test heavy munitions and rocket propellants. Therefore the risk of water and other pollution, and fires, was very real. Its presence and activities, and the structures and roads built in a conservation area were unacceptable from an ecological point of view. 

However the general public was not aware of what was happening in the mountains - no one was allowed near the site and it is surrounded by Forestry ground. We were vaguely aware that the 'army' had ground there and sometimes heard 'cannon fire’. Then in 1989, Mr Jan Stekhoven of the Pringle Bay Rate Payers Association, contacted Dr Cowen of the Rooiels Rate Payers Association, who was to be the authorised spokesman for the councils for the next 7 years, with the information that Somchem intended to purchase portion 186 for R500.  He asked for legal advice and assistance. After a visit to Caledon the sale of the ground was stopped but Somchem continued to occupy the area.  They were requested not to erect more structures - a few weeks later tenders were asked for the building of a rocket launch pad.  

Dr Cowen and the Council's legal advisers were convinced that the lease was not valid. A well attended meeting of the Rooiels Ratepayers Association was held and it was the unanimous decision that the representatives should negotiate with Somchem to persuade them to leave, and if not successful, go to court as their presence was illegal. At this time too there was a television program on 50/50which aroused general interest. In it Mr Walters discussed the issue with the various protagonists. 

 Somchem stated that their presence was “non-negotiable” and the legal battle began in 1991.  Members of the surrounding communities donated R I 000 000 into a trust fund and Dr Cowen, supported by Dr Costa, John Mudge and RERA took up the battle. There were many frustrating delays - it took six court appearances to get the lease documents to study. Many members of the community were getting worried about rising costs. They were worried about the pollution too but felt that it would be ‘unpatriotic’ to oppose the government’s arms industry. Then the Administrator of the Cape announced that, if  Rooiels lost the case, the town would be liable for the costs. Legal advice was obtained and it was decided that this was not so. In September 1993, the Administrator’s intervention on liability for costs, not the main issue, was argued for two days and the Cape Supreme Court ordered Somchem "to make its best settlement offer" to the Rooiels Council. (Cases no 3251/91 and 5834/93). The costs of postponement were to be met by the Administrator. The validity of the 'lease' was not conceded, and Somchem had to pay a market-related rental, R9000, and R40 000 a year ‘compensation’ to Rooiels for nature conservation, fire prevention, roads etc. and occupation was limited to 15 years. Testing times and dates were limited and would have to be stopped if the water was proved to be polluted. A referendum was held amongst the property owners of Rooiels and 113 voted for acceptance of the offer and 78 against.

But this was not the end. In June 1995 Somchem announced that they were to dismantle their rocket testing facility and that they wanted to rehabilitate the area.  As part of the court order a  Rooiels Court Order Water Monitoring Committee was instituted with representatives of various interest groups.  The Rooiels group was not happy as Somchem seemed to be testing propellants for heavy artillery more regularly. These G5 cannons and mortars were for the export market. There was more noise pollution, and tests showed that noxious products like berylium, antimony, mercury and lead  were present in the catchment area which had now been used as a testing ground for 15 years. 

Geoff Harris, chairman of RERA, wrote urgent letters requesting testing of the water, and assurances of its purity, and did not get satisfaction.  Somchem published information about its work there with photos - showing clouds of pollution hanging over the site. Dr Cowen published an article in the African Wildlife Magazine with a photo showed the scarring of the area and how close to the dam they were testing.  There was also damage done by the dam builders and the Caledon Regional Services Offices, which were still exploiting a gravel quarry directly in the catchment runoff area. Some inhabitants of the towns supplied by dam were bringing in their own water and the chairman of RERA asked Somchem for a statement that the water was free of harmful chemicals. These letters forced Somchem's hand and in May 1996, they admitted that large scale lead pollution had been discovered on the terrain. (In March they had said that preliminary "soil test results showed no evidence of lead pollution".) In June 1996 they conceded that they had already been aware of the lead problem in Aug 1995 and had stopped using lead linings in tests.  

Then Somchem announced that it would withdraw by end 1998. The Hangklip-Kleinmond municipality and the Overberg Regional Services Council signed a protocol for supervising the withdrawal and water monitoring. Julia Aalbers, our representative on the council, and the other community players, including Geoff Harris, were not happy with the stipulations of the final protocol, did not sign and withdrew saying that the responsibility for ensuring a supply of pure water now rested on the signatories.  

In September 1998 Mrs Nunn, current chairperson of the Buffelsrivier Catchment Community Committee, reported that the test results showed low levels of lead (other tests were not done) and that some buildings had been demolished and the area covered in mulch. (2nd edition, March 1999. The rehabilitation of the quarry and surroundings is well under way and the ground has been handed over to Nature Conservation.) We hope that the Kleinmond/Hangklip Council as signatories will ensure that harmful chemicals do not contaminate the water. Only in the years to come will we know the consequences of this episode in our history. We hope our children will not then suffer from water and /or health problems. The Rooiels committee did its best to fight for the environment against formidable odds and we must thank all those involved, who spent thousands of (unpaid) hours and their own money for expenses, fighting on behalf of the home owners many of whom were uninterested.

** For more information contact the Ratepayers Association, the  court   records and Dr Cowen’s article in  the African Wildlife Magazine (vol 50   no 6, December 1996). He hopes to write in more detail about the whole affair.
( 2016   Denel , the successor to Armscor,   has now left the area)  

LIFE AT ROOIELS
The Cape of Storms - and wind


For years Rooiels Bay was known as Waaijgat Baai a descriptive if not tourist- friendly name. (Those idyllic, calm, sunny winter days here are kept a secret - as are the windless summer days when the fishermen in the boats in the bay sit under sunshades. It won’t do to have too many visitors!)  Especially in December, when all the holidaymakers are here, the south-easter can blow for days and one battles to walk against it. Many nights I have lain awake waiting for our roof to blow off and listing items I must save. Sensible houses here have sheltered verandas and small overhangs on the windward side. (This does not help much in winter when the north-west blows!) 

There are many stories about wind damage at Rooiels.  The builders of Leopard’s Leap say that the wind blew the roof off twice:  the third time they raised it they put in all the extra safety features they knew of.  While they were celebrating the roof raising there, it blew off for the third time.  George Ryke says that he was working on a house against the mountain when they saw the entire roof of the house below them lift off and come undulating in the air towards them like Aladdin’s carpet.  The roof of our veranda (130 Rocklands rd) blew off in a north-west storm and was hurled over the house, with its beams and uprights, and landed in the road.  

 Many still remember the storms of the winter of 1984.  The wind speeds at Cape Point exceeded 100 km per hour and the swell was 16 m high there. It seemed as if the waves would at any moment break over our house and bamboo fronds and sea foam a metre thick was blown up the path to the front door.   Pierre and Louise du Toit of no 260 arrived at their house late one evening and noticed that the surroundings looked strangely white.  The next morning they saw that a container had lodged on the rocks in the little bay in front of their house at least 1 metre above the normal high water mark.  It had been torn open and huge rolls of high quality paper had spilt from it and had blown onto the rocks.  Everything was festooned by these white streamers, 600 cm wide, caught in the bushes.  They took months to decay and the container is still there. 

And fire

Fires have always been part of the natural cycle at the Cape and are necessary for the rejuvenation of the fynbos.  Vasco da Gama reputedly named the land, Terra De Fume, because of the fires he saw near Mossel Bay in 1497.  But they can be dangerous to homes and pastures, and in 1652 Van Riebeeck  paid a finger-length each of tobacco to  Saldanhas (a Khoi tribe) to put out a fire.   In 1687 a law was passed at the Cape which made unauthorised burning a crime.  A “severe scourging” was imposed for a first offence and the death penalty for a second.  I hope careless smokers and picnickers note this - the penalties might not now be so severe but it is still a serious crime. 

** South Africa’s Proteaceae;   Marie Vogts

At the beginning of the century the farmers here regularly burnt the veld to encourage the growth of grass and to give the livestock fresh shoots to nibble. Since the 1940’s fires have not been part of the planning but there have been several at Rooiels.   Vivian Main tells that in 1974 a fire swept through the houses and one woman was burnt badly trying to protect her home.

All fires are not started by man and his activities.  In Easter 1991 many people had come out to Rooiels to enjoy the mild autumn weather.  My brother-in-law noticed a small white cloud in the blue sky and said it was a thundercloud.   We laughed at him, but by 8 o’clock an electric storm was raging around us.  Lightning flickered repeatedly, the wind came up, the thunder rumbled, but there was little rain.  We watched as the bolts struck the peaks behind the town, leaving an instant of darkness and then the flicker of flames as the blaze started spreading. In a dozen places the fire took hold and swept down the mountains. No one in Rooiels slept that night.  By nine o’clock the fire was approaching the valley above and Somchem was worried.  They put some explosives in the bunkers and evacuated truck loads of ? ? A worried driver met us at the crossroads and said we must leave the area.  There were then only a few houses above Clarence Drive. At midnight the fire fighters advised the people living next to the road to leave their homes and everyone stood around near the café watching the flames. The blaze was stopped at the road and no property was damaged here.  The next morning we stood on the bridge and watched the kloof burn down and the helicopters land on the beach. That afternoon we drove to the Harold Porter Garden that was still smouldering.  The vegetation from Steenbras to Palmiet was charcoal and ashes. 

In the spring the valley was a mass of bulbs in bloom and in the wet ground the ericas and mimetes soon grew. The mountains looked grey and bare for years.  Now, 8 years later, the fynbos there is at its best.

Let there be light?
 


In one of the anomalies of modern life, Rooiels, Pringle Bay and Betty’s Bay only were connected to an electricity supply fairly recently.  Till 1992 we cooked on gas stoves and ate by candlelight while we viewed the city lights over the bay. It was a peaceful life and one truly felt that you had escaped from the modern rat race.  The only snag was the not-so-quiet little generators chugging away in the dark night.  The rate-payers had for years been able to vote down proposals of electrification - motivated by a fear of excessive “development” and the building of large hotels on what must be the most private beach within 70km of the city. (It was rumoured that Sol Kerzner - as the epitome of grandiose hotel builders - was interested in the site on the point - how true this is I could not find out). Then the cables were laid and economics caused all residents to wire their houses.   Since then the houses built have been noticeably bigger with bright outside lights and we a threatened with high-density housing.  Although, as old residents, we do find our electric fridge easier than the old gas one, we miss the walks in the dark with the stars blazing above us and no longer have an excuse not to bring a cellphone and laptop with us. ( We still refuse to think of a TV.) The older, slower type of holiday is past.

WRECKS

With inaccurate maps and poor visibility navigators sometimes mistook Cape Hangklip for the point of Africa and turned into False Bay.   If there was a south-easter blowing, the ship could then easily go ashore on the western side from  Simonstown  to the point as numerous wrecks show.  It was only the boats sailing too close to land at Hangklip point, or caught in a north-west gale, that wrecked near Rooiels. So, while there are hundreds marked from Danger Point to Agulhas, I could only find references to a few here. 

According to Shipwrecks and Salvage in Southern Africa by M Turner, the Sacramento sank near the eastern  entrance of False Bay in 1647. No other details are given.  In 1673 the Dutch ship, De Grundel, wrecked on the rocks at Hangklip.  The captain and two men set out in the ship's boat to cross False Bay.  They were driven ashore somewhere near Muizenberg and set out on foot for Table Bay, one dying of exhaustion on the way.  Meanwhile some other survivors had walked along the shore and certainly passed Rooiels.  On the way they sighted a boat that rescued them and took them to Visch Hoek. (Gordon's Bay).  

In 1691, a Portuguese man-of-war, Sarpine, went onto the rocks south of  Gordon's Bay in a south-east gale. She was carrying Chinese and Japanese ambassadors to Europe. There were only five survivors. They were supposedly carrying valuable gifts to the crowned heads of Europe, but nothing was reported to have been found.  From various references it is obvious that wrecks were always regarded as a rare gift from the sea by the inhabitants and were looted long before officials arrived. Lawrence Green reports that many houses on the west and south coast were furnished with what washed ashore and brides were given Eastern pottery and glassware.  Also, what divers brought up in official salvage operations, did not necessarily correspond with what they found beneath the water. Visit the Bredasdorp Shipwrek Museum to see what was later donated by the desendants  of the farmers in the region.
The Ternate sank near Hangklip in 1680.   Although the Schoonberg,  a Dutch ship, ran ashore on a sandy beach  in fine weather at Struisbaai, in 1750, it later made news here. She was loaded with tea from Batavia, spices, silk and boxes with gold, jewels and silver.  No lives were lost and Captain van Soest sent part of the ship's crew along the beach to send news to the  authorities.  Meanwhile his accomplices, Jacob van der Heyden, Hendrik Klopper and Jacob Malan arrived from the Cape with oxwagons and loaded selected items. (Van Den Heyden and Klopper had bought Vergelen after WA van der Stel had been sent back to Holland - it seems that the farm's early owners all had a love for illgotten gains!)  It is said that they buried most at Vergelen and sent some on to the Cape.  When Governor de Chavonnes’ men arrived at the wreck three weeks later, they found her burned.  He was suspicious about the circumstances surrounding the wreck and the timely arrival of the wagons.  Van Soest was found to have smuggled rum and tobacco earlier with the help of the farmers, and the sailors began spending silver in the Cape. The men were arrested, Klopper committed suicide, Van Soest was broken on the wheel and the others deported to Batavia. Although a search reported in the newspapers of 1859 found the ship's bell on the farm, the treasure was never found ( at least officially.)

The British ship, Colebrook, also was wrecked as result of a north-wester and went ashore at Kogelbay.  (This wreck has been described in the History chapter.) She was carrying lead and other metals and divers salvaged some in 1884 and later in 1960. In certain weather conditions the currents wash away the sand covering it.  There were always stories of treasure and divers try their luck. Carl Vogt dived it 15 years ago and still found glass bottles.   

In  1800, the Benjamin went ashore this side Gordon’s Bay  in a north-west gale and in 1828 the Meridian   wrecked at  Silversands.  She had spices and sugar on board and was found in 1985 with her cannon and 2 anchors marking the site. The Robert, 1847,  (British), was also driven onto the rocks near Gordon Bay with a load of teak from Burma. No lives were lost.

The Louise Scheller  (German), sank in 1882 a north-west gale near Hangklip on her way to Singapore with no loss of life. She was carrying barrels of paraffin oil and I am sure this was valuable loot. In 1886 the Ispahan   (British) also went on the rocks in a thick fog  near Hangklip.  She was carrying rape seeds, linseed and wheat and her bell was later recovered.

In 1902 the Gustav Adolph   (Norwegian), sank near Palmiet.  She carried jarra sleepers.  Stoffel Albertyn of Keinmond told Green about salvaging these and searching for treasure.  Also in 1902, the Verona (Norwegian) was abandoned, off Hangklip, by her crew who took to the lifeboats. She carried coal that later washed ashore.  

Very recently Rooiels has again been involved in sea dramas. One evening in December, 1995, a large catamaran with a young couple on board anchored in the bay.  An unexpected north-west wind came up and the propeller of the tender tied to the back of the boat rubbed against the anchor rope parting it. Those on board were rudely awakened when the pontoon struck a rock near the slipway and then the boat beached neatly on the sand. They phoned frantically for help to get her patched before the next high tide, managing just in time. She left for Gordon’s Bay : unfortunately the patches worked loose and near the harbour she started sinking.   The NSIR  towed her in half submerged.

  Every year, Rooiels is a staging post in the Trans-Agulhas Boat Race and on New Year’s day we watch the rubber ducks come buzzing round the point to land briefly on the beach to check in.  In 1999 things went tragically wrong. The sea was stormy on New Year’s morning, when the boats had to leave Hermanus on the last stage to the finishing point at the Strand.  The safety officer of the race said that they could proceed, but several competitors withdrew.  Later in the day the wind grew stronger and the swells were 5 metres high.   Before twelve the organisers cancelled the race and called the competitors in to the nearest beach. The front runners reached Rooiels and the beach was busy with vehicles on the sand  (!!) loading the boats. 

Johan Archer, of Eddie’s Wheel Alignment Team from Windhoek, was rounding the point at Hangklip lighthouse when the boat bounced on a huge swell and his co-pilot fell out. He turned around to pick him up but the boat was off balance and flipped.  They hung on to the ropes and then he managed to dive in underneath the boat to get some flares.  The helicopter from Sea Rescue picked them up and he bade a sad farewell to his boat (R55 000 +).  He was pleasantly surprised the next morning when he was informed that it had washed up at Hawston complete with engine! ( There seems to be a strong current in that direction as I was told by one of the builders here that his cousin had fallen off a fishing boat at Rooiels and had been washed ashore at Kleinmond.   I could not get dates or names.) 

The latest wreck here happened on 6 February 1999.  The sea was very rough with huge waves and there was a howling wind.   In spite of this, the cabin cruiser, Brandy and Ginger, set out but, having fouled her propeller, was blown onto the rocks in Container Bay (Bakkiesbaai).  A boat from National Sea Rescue, assisted by two ski-boats, came to the rescue and residents of Rooiels helped the 3 unharmed passengers ashore – the owner, his daughter and a friend.  The waves smashed the boat against the rocks and the diesel started leaking. On Monday, an SOS was sent to the municipality and our representative, Julia Aalbers, and Craig Spenser organised the pumping ashore of 700 litres of fuel. The bush telegraph was busy and the looters descended  - as they have through the centuries.   Right through the night they stripped the boat.   The police were called but the looters assured them (incorrectly) that a deserted boat has no owner.  

On Tuesday the salvage firm arrived with a crane and heavy machinery. Louise and Pierre du Toit tried to rescue all the newly planted indigenous plants and neatly laid out paths.  Then the front-end loader crunched over all the rock pools; all the shells and sea anemones.  By evening the boat had been cut in two and the oily engines were lying in the water.

The owner, Mr de la Fontaine, a developer from Gordon’s Bay was in the Seychelles and the insurance company did not want to pay for the removal of the engines and the cleanup of the area.   On Wednesday at 7am, Geoff Harris called a Meeting of RERA to vote R2000 emergency funds to remove the remains of the wreck before further damage was caused to sea life and while the salvage team was on site. (This sum will be reclaimed from the owner.) The residents worked hard to cleanup the area and restore the paths.  Unfortunately the plants will take time to cover up the scars and the pools will look bad for years. 

CROSSES AND MEMORIALS
 An interesting walk at Rooiels is across the beach and then along the rough fisherman's path parallel with the road.  Wherever the rock cliff falls sheer into the sea the anglers gather. Here too, there is tragic evidence of the freak swell that has caused the death of so many anglers in False Bay. Waves in these latitudes travel far and the movement of an individual swell can be three weeks old.  They mostly enter the bay from the south-west and strike Rocky Bank, submerged rocks in the mouth of the bay. There they are deflected and then some converge later to form swells of up to 8 metres and higher that rise silently and sweep unsuspecting anglers from “safe” rocky perches. This happens especially from south of Steenbrasmond to Rooiels! (The Living Shores of SA)  In one place, less than a kilometre from the beach, we found 9 memorials: some were marble crosses, some plaques against the rocks and some cement slabs with scratched messages. Most give details of the person swept from the rocks - one reads touchingly "To Pine - from us: 1991". The latest one we found was dated 1994.  And there were still anglers busy with their sport, standing amongst the grim reminders. I made no attempt to count all the memorials - there must be over a hundred in the entire stretch. In only a few cases could I find out what had happened. 

In 1901, JF Marais, then rector of the Stellenbosch Gimnasium (now Paul Roos Gimnasium), drowned at that spot at 35 years of age.  He had obtained his DSc at Edinburgh University and did work for the government at the Cape selecting American wild grape rootstock to combat the phylloxera plague destroying the wine industry. He became principal in Stellenbosch in 1896.  In May 1901, he and friends borrowed the Millers’ boat at Gordon’s Bay to spend a long weekend here.  Paul Cluver, PF Cillie and he, went to catch a fish for dinner and crossed the crevice to the front rocks. The sea was rough and Cluver turned back.  Then Cillie saw a huge wave coming and lay down, clinging to the rock but Marais was washed off into the crevice.  A second wave took him 50 metres out to sea and then a third broke over his head. They searched for the body all that day and the next and then returned to the Strand. There they asked for volunteers to help in the search and took them by boat to the beach. For four days they searched in the rain along the coast to Steenbras.  The river was full and one of the volunteers could not swim.  Two of them pulled him across with a rope and the other swam alongside keeping his head above water. Marais’ body was never found. The next year his friends carried two washed up beams to the place and erected a 3m high wooden cross which stood for 45 years - the granite one was built after the road was completed. (**Thank you to the Paul Roos Gimnasium 

that sent me the  souvenir booklet  published when the granite cross was unveiled.)

An elegant cross recalls James Read who died 16/9/1956 aged 19. “Greater love has no man than he who lays down his life for a friend” his friends and family wrote on the cross.  He was an aircraft mechanic at Ysterplaat and he and a friend had been fishing.  The friend, Mr Kirchner, had dropped his rod into the sea and fallen in trying to retrieve it.  James swam out with a life-line to help him and got him onto the rocks.  He was just pulling himself up when a huge wave washed him into the sea.  The line got entangled in the kelp and the rescuers could not pull him in.  Another line was thrown but it was no use.   Forty onlookers, including his fianceé, watched him struggle for an hour before he vanished.  The newspaper reports cold weather, snow and storms which prevented ships from docking. (The Argus  17/9/56)

On 26 January 1987, Nick Smith, a Western Province angler, was helping a friend gaff a 100kg shark when a wave washed them off the rocks.  The friend struggled to safety but Smith could not swim.  ---- Every year there are deaths and narrow escapes  - as one sees in the Rooiels Breeze. But there are always anglers standing on the rocks! 

The strangest cross was that erected in front of  "Ankers" - the well known house with the cables. In the 1970’s Mr Roos, a builder from Stellenbosch, fished there.  They found his bakkie and rod, but he was missing and later presumed dead. The family erected a wooden cross engraved to his memory.  About 15 years later his son found him in Potchefstroom with ‘ amnesia’ and there were legal problems as his wife had remarried.  Rapport carried a photo of him posing next to the cross.  The family broke down the cross.   Pierre and Louise du Toit, nearby residents, picked up the pieces and that night made fire with the pieces of wood  inscribed "..in loving memory .."

GHOSTS
 Of course Cape Point has a very famous ghost that has been sighted off Hangklip and in False Bay - the Flying Dutchman!  Whether it is Bartholomew Diaz's boat which sank off the Cape in 1498, or that of Van der Decken who challenged the Lord, several authoritative sightings of the ship with all its sails set have been recorded. In 1881 a midshipman aboard a British man-of-war noted in the log, that during the night watch he had sighted an old ship under sail south of the Cape.  Later the lookout, who first saw it, fell to his death from the mast.  The midshipman became George V of Great Britain.  A sighting of an old sailing ship was also logged off Cape Point by the captain of a German U-boat in the Second World War. 

But Rooiels seems to have its own rather charming ghost story.  Two people have told me about sighting children in old-fashioned long dresses and knickerbockers playing on the beach.  So watch out in the evening!  Considering who lived here the longest, the ghosts should be those of the ancient inhabitants wearing karosses and carrying stone implements.

SEA LIFE
Whales and whaling 
Now that we watch in excitement to see the first whales of the season and travel along the coast to glimpse them, we find it hard to believe that in the 1800’s whaling at the Cape ranked after sheep and wine farming as the third most profitable industry.  For the first half of that century whales were regarded as commonplace game and meant hunting, oil, money and danger. Long ago the whales still had a sporting chance and the men were at risk.  But the romance of Captain Ahab and Moby Dick was lost when the harpoons were fitted with explosive heads late in the 19th century and the hunt became a slaughter. Sperm whales were killed in False Bay and a Blue whale of 60m was the record kill at Saldanha. The favoured catch was the Southern Right whale or noorkapper as it floats when shot. Lawrence Green regarded hunting them as quite right, although he noted the reduced numbers. He gives recipes for whale meat - fry blue whale steak with onions, or crumb thin cuts and bake in cream. The Norwegian whale hunters at the factories here smoked cuts and made biltong. The 1958 edition of Collier’s Encylopaedia states that whale meat is the staple protein of Japan!

The first whaling was done at the Cape in 1799 and the industry grew quickly. There were several stations in False Bay and in a “good" year 40 would be caught in the Bay itself. The Southern Cross Whaling Company opened a station at Betty's Bay in 1912 to waylay the whales swimming up the east coast.  It was run by a Norwegian, Hans Jorgensen, and was manned by 8 boats crewed by an international crowd.  Some of the harpooners were from Tristan de Cunha, and there were South Americans, Filipinos and Japanese in the crews.  In that year 179 (according to Knox-Johnson: 84 in David Halkett’s book) whales were brought in to this station, but the next year brought in more. The strips of blubber were boiled for oil used in soap, cosmetics and for engine oil. The meat was used as animal food and the bones for fertilizer.  The sharks soon learnt to follow the boats and tore off the blubber before the whales could be hauled up the slipway so Jorgensen baited meat with arsenic and killed many of them.  In those days no questions were asked!!  As a result of the First World War the company was liquidated in 1915 and bought by Shepstone and Co.  This Company operated from there erratically till 1926 and at one time had 6 steam vessels. The last whales were brought in there in 1930 and the remains of the whaling operations can be seen near the penguin colony.  In the last year whaling was permitted at the Cape, 1967, the various stations in South Africa brought in 874 whales.  In that year, fresh whale meat was still available as pet food in Bellville where we lived. 

In 1976 South Africa signed the treaty to ban whaling and the big mammals are making a come-back.  Residents will remember that while 20 years ago we seldom saw a whale, now they are a familiar sight again and the population is growing at 7% a year - a success story for conservation.  The whales feed on plankton in the Antarctic waters in summer and then migrate to the warmer waters here to calf in winter.  As their food is scarce along our coasts many do not eat while here, living off fat stores. From May to November, and occasionally out of season, whales can be seen wallowing, blowing and diving in the bay - sometimes with calves.  The most common are the Southern Right whales and the Humpback. One rainy afternoon on the road to  Steenbras, we saw about 8 close to the cliffs and could clearly hear them singing.  

In 1993, twelve big whales (8-9 metres long) beached at Pringle Bay. The Council had to remove the carcasses with a front-end loader and a big truck. They asked George Ryke if they could bury the animals on his smallholding in the valley otherside the bridge.  In years to come this strange heap of whale bones so far from the sea will puzzle archaeologists. 

Harders and other fish


About 12 years ago there was great excitement here as a huge school of harders and makriel came into the bay.  The dolphins and seals followed them and the fish were trapped by the tide in the rock pools and shallow water.  People came from everywhere, took buckets full and carted them away in cardboard boxes, linen bags and towels. Trucks came from the Strand and drove over gardens to the rocks to collect them.  Dolphins frequent the bay and even allow swimmers to approach them.
Rooiels remains a favourite spot for fishing from the rocks. Years ago my husband and friends used to dive and shoot fish here and could chose what they wanted to have for the braai, but now one seldom sees someone with a harpoon gun as the fish are too few. The place is now better known for shellfish.  At Christmas time we can sit on the stoep and watch our sons dive crayfish for dinner. There is now a scuba trail marked under the water with yellow paint on the rocks and a scuba school from the Cape often brings pupils.  About 500 metres in on the other side of the bay is a coral reef that, by all accounts, is a remarkable site and rated by enthusiasts as the best in the Cape.   Recently my daughter and son-in-law did scuba-diving in Thailand and the instructor said, “Ah, South Africa, beautiful reef at Rooiels!” Remember that there are quotas for certain fish also perlemoen, crayfish and mussels.  Seawatch pamphlets are available giving the latest rules and Rooiels has a number of voluntary conservation officers.

False Bay has always been wellknown for its shark population - especially Great White sharks.  In the past shark hunters operated from Macassar Bay but now the Great White is a protected species.  In spite of their numbers there have been very few attacks here till recently. No one seems to know why sharks are now attacking along the south-west coast: the tourist boats which feed the sharks to attract them to their underwater cages are suspected.  In 1997 a diver was killed off Maasbaai in an attack and in August 1998, a shark savaged the foot of a diver near Rooiels.  He managed to climb onto the rocks and had to be rescued by helicopter. 

The boat owners at Rooiels have formed a club to maintain the slipway and access to it is by licence only as it is only suitable for small boats and parking is limited.  The use of jet skis in the bay is forbidden as is driving on the beach.

Seaplants

Most people are aware of the floral riches of this area but few know that Rooiels has as a rich variety of seaplants along its coast.  The sea bamboo is the only one I can identify but in a recent study almost 200 species of seaweed and other sea plants were found along the stretch of coast from Steenbrasmond to the mouth of the Palmiet.  From the mouth of the Orange to Cape Town 500 species have been identified.   Vivianne Main (Paddy, from the house Omega) told me that Mrs Porter would come here to collect seaweed to make agar-agar jelly.   Mrs Atwell of Betty’s Bay says she can still identify the seaweed used. 

ENCOUNTERS WITH ANIMALS

Leopards 
It is a bizarre fact that, near a large city and amidst a densely populated agricultural area, there are still large wild predators.  The Cape leopard is smaller than its northern counterpart with the males weighing 36 kg as opposed to the Kruger National Park ones that weigh 60kg. The coat is longer and more furry and the white and black markings more distinct. They have only survived here because of the rugged and inaccessible nature of the mountains, and the vegetation, which is unsuitable for domestic animals. Climbers do see their spoor and count themselves lucky to glimpse one at night. No serious attacks on people have been reported foe a  century. They eat mainly dassies and small baboons, but are known to come down to the sea to secluded beaches - probably searching for offal washed up by the sea.  Paul Zwick as a young boy, saw a leopard on the beach searching the rock pools and recently one was sighted on the rocks in front of Ankers.  Each leopard establishes a range for itself and does not allow trespassers. This makes it difficult for young males and they are forced to find food nearer populated areas.

In 1967 Credwin Thompson, then 7 years old, accompanied the De Kroon family and others, with their children,  up the kloof which was then far less dense.  They swam in the pools and wandered off searching for a path further up.  Then the ten year old daughter started screaming and her father dashed through the bush.  He found her with her face and head covered in blood.  She had scratches on her arm and face, but it had happened so quickly that she only knew that an animal had attacked her.  She was rushed to hospital where she stayed for many weeks and remained so afraid of going to Rooiels that her parents sold their house. Credwin remembers the rest of the children being hustled in a group down the river.  That night the wind blew and the house creaked. The candles and gas lights flickered and the children were terrified of the thing coming down the mountain. 

 It was never certain what had happened. People speculated that she had surprised a mother leopard with cubs - in that case she came off lightly -  or a young leopard. It may have been a lynx that was startled by her appearance.  The newspapers printed dramatic headlines and I remember the Argus had an excellent cartoon. A vendor is selling papers to passengers off one of the Castle Line ships.  The placard reads ‘Leopard attacks child near Cape Town.’  “Coo, Mom,” says a child, “ we really are in the jungle!”

During the Christmas holiday of 1986, a young leopard was often sighted roaming between Betty’s Bay and Rooiels.  He took braaivleis from picnickers at Hangklip and was seen at Maasbaai where he ate the bait thrown away by anglers. A fisherman sleeping on the dunes woke when a ‘dog’ sniffed around his sleeping bag. “Voertsek!” he shouted and had the fright of his life when he saw a leopard running away in the moonlight. Then on 3/1/87 the leopard killed 40 penguins in the breeding colony at Betty’s Bay. He was sighted in the gardens, trapped by Nature Conservation, given a radio collar and released at Kogelberg.  Days later he was seen at Rooiels.  Residents of Rooiels were walking at the southern end of the town when the leopard appeared, caught the family Maltese poodle and disappeared into the bush. For the rest of the holiday our young daughter walked around with her dog held firmly under her arm.

 But his fate was sealed and it was only a matter of time as he had lost his fear of humans. On 11/3/87, he caught some sheep on a smallholding in the valley. The next day the owner, Piet Rademeyer, took his rifle and followed the spoor. The leopard appeared in the track and snarled at the man, who shot him and skinned him.  Nature Conservation declined to prosecute the farmer for shooting a protected animal, as his life could have been threatened, but confiscated the skin. An emotional controversy arose around the issue. Supporters of the farmer maintained that the leopard would have harmed a child sooner or later and was a danger to livestock.  Others asserted that leopards were a threatened species, kept the baboon population in check, and that sheep should not be kept in this fragile and valuable fynbos area. For years, written on the tar near Rooiels, was the slogan - “ Shoot Rademeyer - save the Leopard.”  (Die Burger 13/3/87 and subsequent issues).


When the road along the coast was being redone recently, it was divided into sections with robots to regulate the traffic flow.  One of the workers who attended to the robot near the Rooiels bridge, visited the chemical toilet situated nearby. She had left the door open and was admiring the view when a leopard stuck his head around the door. Road workers nearby heard her screams and were in time to see the animal disappear over the ridge. 

   Every now and then there still are reports of sightings of leopards at Rooiels but there seems to be a conspiracy amongst residents to keep the stories from the press for fear of unwanted publicity. So if you catch a glimpse of this rare animal in your headlights on the road or on the mountain in the morning, feel yourself privileged. 

2016   With the advent of leopard watch cameras  far more is now known about them and the sightings are on record.  Look at www.rooielsweebly.com for the latest.
Baboons

Far more numerous and also regarded with mixed feelings, are of course the baboons. The Chacma male can weigh up to 44kg and in this cooler southern region, has long hair.  The Rooiels troop varies in number and moves from our beach to Betty’s Bay searching for food and sometimes joining other troops.   A visitor saw two harassed female babysitters herding 30 youngsters over the road. The other baboons were foraging high up in the mountains.  After the burn at our local reserve, the baboons were there daily eating the young shoots. Visitors walked warily far away from the large male watching from a rock.  They also visit rock pools for seafood and scavenge on the beach. 

But as intelligent animals, they have adapted to civilization and on Mondays, after the weekend crowds have left, they make their rounds visiting the beach for leftovers and inspecting all the dustbins.  The previous shop-owner was surprised by a large female, who walked into the café, helped herself to an armful of potato chip packets and handed them out to the youngsters waiting in the road.  Rosie kept a dish with koeksisters in the window till hairy visitors peered through the glass, came in and emptied it.

George Ryke has many tales to tell of these animals whom he asserts have a prior claim to Rooiels and should not be driven away. Years ago Issie baked two special apple pies for the bank manager and other businessmen who had come to see them about the shop.   They enjoyed the first one but when she went to fetch the other left to keep warm in the open oven, she saw a baboon in the window munching the last crumbs.  George has named the current (1996) leader of the troop, Charles, and recently heard something in the kitchen.  When he got there he saw food on the floor, but no trace of the intruder.  Something made him look up and there, on the high fridge, sat Charles looking at him.  They also met up in the garden and, noticing that Charles was looking at him curiously, George started singing to him. The baboon sat politely through several songs but when George started speaking, backed away offended. 

Recently the baboons have become bolder and seem to seek out houses and people as a source of food.  - possibly as some motorists unwisely -  and illegally - feed them and too many visitors and inhabitants throw away unwanted food where they can get to it.  They have entered several houses to take the edibles they can see through the windows. Charles and the two females with him are the main culprits and there is always possibility that he will one day hurt someone and be shot. At the beginning of the 1998 Christmas season he was trapped by Nature Conservation who wanted to remove him from near the town, at least for the busy season. Someone who disagreed with the policy opened the cage before it was loaded. For the rest of the holiday the baboons did not enter the town as often, so maybe he was frightened by the whole affair. 

Dr Simonsz tells the best story about Charles.  One morning early the baboon entered their kitchen and the man charged at him with his sjambok kept ready for such occasions.  Instead of running outside, Charles backed into the bedroom where their teenage daughter was sleeping. When Dr Simonsz entered, the baboon felt trapped: he tried to hide behind the curtain and then dived onto the bed, stuck his head under the duvet and pulled it over himself. Dr Simonsz daughter looked at him with big eyes, stiff with fright after her rude awakening.  It was only when the man backed away from the door that Charles got up, and sauntered out, taking an apple on the way.

Always remember that a baboon is a wild animal and can be dangerous.  Just have a look at those canine teeth! They are unlikely to attack, unless they are provoked or feel threatened.  NEVER feed the baboons and keep all food covered and out of windowsills.  Please empty your bin into the special baboon proof bins provided. Allow them to live as wild animals in their natural environment.  It would be a pity if they had to be shot because they had become too accustomed to people.

(2016  There have been several students coming to Rooiels to study the baboons for their theses.   For a while the current alpha male carried a baby around and tended it.   A young female carried a her dead infant for months till it mummified.   There are photos of the baboons  diving into pools to catch fish.   The studies seem to show that the Rooiels troop is unique in that they are not aggressive to people or even dogs.   No injury has been reported in 50 years.   Look at the web site.  )
Otters and others
The Cape clawless otter is seen by lucky people in Rooiels, but is a shy creature that is being threatened by dogs.  Early in the morning they come ashore to the lagoon or other fresh water pools to drink and wash their fur. They eat crabs, small fish and also frogs.  A resident recently saw one splashing in the lagoon.  Then it ran up the dune with something in its mouth.  Curious, he followed it, and the alarmed otter dropped a large sole and disappeared. ( 2016    At the little beach in the nature reserve an otter watch camera has been installed and we will see more photos of them at the small fresh water pool.)

More frequently seen are small buck and their droppings; grysbok, duikers and steenbok,  that shelter in the bushes and drink at the pools. Henry Erasmus’s sons found a steenbok near the rocks in the sea beyond the beach.  It was trying to climb out of the water but its hoofs slipped on the rocks. They jumped in, rescued the exhausted little creature, and placed it in the sun under a bush in the garden. It lay there for two hours and then jumped up and ran away. It must have been in the water for a long time as all its ticks had climbed up onto its head to get out of the water. How it was washed into the sea is a mystery.  Unfortunately the increasing population - especially of dogs - is frightening them away.

Often as one walks near the rocks, one hears the warning bark of the dassies. They live in colonies and have young only once a year in September/October. Did you know that they need not drink water, except in very arid conditions, as they obtain all their moisture from the plants they eat? Other animals here are  mongooses, bats,  interesting frogs, and mice and shrews.


There are of course many snakes in the Cape fynbos; cobra, tree snakes and adders, but I do not know of anyone who has been bitten at Rooiels.  The most likely species to bite is the puffadder as it does not flee from man. Our children found a huge puffadder, trapped by high tide on the rocks in front of no 130.  A few days later George Ryke killed one on his erf and roasted it for dinner.  Mike Miller has found three snakes in his house in the last few years.  In Dec 1998, his 9 year old son Greg found a metre long puffadder on on his bed.   Mike caught it with an improvised loop on stick and Greg carried down the road quite unconcerned, to free it on the rocks.  Puffadders have been observed on the beach feeding on the sealice near the washed up seaweed. Remember that snakes too have a role to fulfil in the fynbos and should not be killed indiscriminately.

 The proposed (2016   Now established) Kogelberg Reserve is listed as having 70 mammals, 43 reptiles and 22 amphibians.  As a comparison, the United Kingdom which covers an area more than 100 times larger, has 50 mammals, 6 reptiles, and 7 amphibians. Please do not destroy their habitat.

Birdlife
We are lucky to have a diversity of habitats at Rooiels - the sandy beach, the rocks, the bush and the mountains.  202 species of birds have been listed as seen here by our birdwatchers.  We have many that have become quite tame and search for crumbs around the dog’s bowl, unfortunately too, the exotic starlings (brought into the country by Cecil John Rhodes!!).  Sun birds visit the heath species and formations of seabirds fly past in the evenings to their roosts. 

Our best known birds are the Black Eagles (witkruis arende). On the cliffs of Klein Hangklip a pair inhabits a nest which experts estimate is 30 years old. These eagles mate for life. If one dies the other takes a young mate and brings him/her back to the nest. This has now happened to those nesting above Betty’s Bay. Their prey here is mainly dassies and they can move away if these get too few. The 1995 chick here died but the 1996 one survived to adulthood.   In the same year the female eagle was found half dead along the road - she had flown into a wire.  After a concerted struggle to save her, she brought up decomposed dassie material from her crop and began to recover.  She was then an estimated 35 years old and in the prime of her life. (They can live till 70.) She was released but 1997’s chick was found dead.  They disappeared for months, but have been seen  around the nest again.  There do not seem to be any eggs laid this year.  

FLORA 
(Thank you to Tony Hall who read this section and gave valuable advice.) 

World plant life is divided into six floral kingdoms. Of these the South -Western Cape is by far the richest with a density of 1300 species per 10 00 square km   (the nearest other is 420 for South America). The newly proclaimed Kogelberg Biosphere Reserve has, in its 30 000 ha, 1600 species with 150 endemic.  The United Kingdom has in its entire area 1500 species, with 18 endemic. In South Africa 605 of the world’s 630 erica species can be found - Kogelberg area has 220 - Europe only 8.

The botanic world has long been fascinated by our plants. The earliest record available, is that of Professor Carolus Clusius of Leiden, who  published a drawing of Protea nerifolia  in 1605.  He must have obtained the dry flower head from a sailor - he classified it as a thistle from Madagascar. In 1648, Breyne named the wild almond  Brabeium.  At the end of the 18th and beginning of the 19th centuries, it was the fashion among wealthy people and botanic societies in Europe and America to compete in collecting rare specimens for their gardens and many travelled to the Cape or sent agents. Botanical gardens built houses to mimic differing climates. Kew at one time had over 200 species of ericas growing there, some probably hybrids.  Botanists and collectors like Masson, Thunberg, Paterson, Niven (names familiar to us because of the plants named after them) and others, visited the Cape and left records and drawings of not only the plants, but also of their experiences and journeys.  Cuttings and seeds were taken to Europe, propagated there and hybridised.   Few Swiss and Germans know that the geraniums/pelargoniums and gladioli that they grow so extensively, come from South Africa. Of the 10 most popular plants sold as cutflowers or potplants in Europe 5 come from South Africa; pelargoniums, gerbera daisies, gladioli, freezias, streptocarpus, spider plants.   In this century, two botanists,  TP Stokoe and Denis Woods, studied the Kogelberg area intensively and discovered and named many plants here. 

Today the easiest way to learn more is by using the series of pocket guides published by the Botanical Society. These make it easy to identify the plants and flowers in an area. The one titled Hottentots Holland to Kleinmond,  is a must for people at Rooiels.   The Cape Peninsula is also useful.  There are many coffee table books with wonderful photos showing the beauty of this area and its unique floral heritage. 

The plants indigenous to this area are specially adapted and called Fynbos as they mostly have small leaves to prevent evaporation during the long hot summers.  (Another theory is that the Dutch settlers called the bushes this as the branches were too thin for log fires or carpentry.) This vegetation is adapted to fires every 9-15 years, which give it a chance to rejuvenate. Many species then take 3-4 years to flower and produce seed. If the fires come too frequently, the seed producers are destroyed and the species is wiped out locally. In the high mountains and secluded valleys, species have developed that are endemic to a small area and these are easily wiped out by careless fires or building operations.  Erica nana was described in the 1800’s and then lost. Dr Louis Vogelpoel found it again in the 1970’s growing on the ledges of a rocky cliff on the peaks above Rooiels.  He took cuttings and these were propagated by Kirstenbosch and the species was saved.  The Harold Porter Gardens has a magnificent display of these with their tawny yellow trumpets hanging over the rocks.  The lovely stands of Mimetes  in the wet places on the way to Betty’s Bay were damaged by too frequent fires and only patches remain. 

The Kogelberg area, which was declared Crown land in 1810, was extended in this century and strictly protected from fire. In 1967 only 9 miserable looking Marsh Rose  (Orothamnus zeyheri) plants could be found there and the species seemed to be almost extinct.  The area was then burnt and within a few years thousands of these plants were growing vigorously from dormant seeds.

Rooiels had two public open areas kept aside in 1948. In 1984, as a result of the enthusiasm of homeowners, these were consolidated as the Rooiels Nature Reserve and part of Rocklands Drive was closed so that the reserve could go down to the sea. (The present committee is attempting to include the entire coastal strip, the koppie near the shops and the vlei area at the lagoon.)  By 1997 the reserve had become very overgrown and was burnt. It is interesting to see which species have come up - at present the purple Pelargonium cucullatum  is dominant.  The Nature Reserve Committee has started an herbarium to record the species growing in this area. Several of our homeowners have attended a course at the botanical gardens so that they can assist.  

Certain alien species introduced years ago have run riot and created a serious threat to our indigenous plants -  all over the country.  They have no natural enemies here, grow more quickly and, especially after burns, come up by the thousands. In places they have formed thick forests and completely smothered all other competitors. They also use more water than the indigenous vegetation and the problem of their presence in catchment areas has been recognised by the Minister of Water Affairs.  In Rooiels, the Port Jackson, Australian myrtle and Rooikrans are the chief culprits. A Port Jackson acacia can drop 10 000 seeds per square metre and these are capable of surviving for more than 30 years in the soil. That is why it is so important to remove all these trees - even if residents want them for shade.

We  have for years had our own hack group  at Rooiels which tries to  rid the area of aliens.  They meet every month and deserve better support.  The ideal would be if every plot owner would rid his/her land of aliens -  and  patrol the neighbouring plots as well  to pull out seedlings.  We have done this for years and kept our area free of Rooikrans. (2016  Biological control is now available namely insects that attack the seeds and fungi.   They are successful on Port Jacksons,  less so on Rooikrans and Black Wattle) 

Try not to destroy and bulldoze large areas of vegetation on your plot when building – the best covering for your plot is fynbos. The scars caused by builders against the mountain ten years ago are not yet covered by plants. Have you studied the plants on your erf?  Are you maybe destroying a threatened species?   Plant only a Buffalo  grass lawn - it is indigenous - and keep it small. Kikuyu grass is now prohibited in California where it is a pest and it seriously invades fynbos in the Cape.  Leave the fynbos - that is why you bought at Rooiels.  Remove the Rooikrans and Port Jackson trees - the preservation of a dwindling treasure is more important than a little shade.

CONCLUSION   

Rooiels holds a special place in the hearts of many people  and its wild beauty touches one every time one comes here. Most home owners bought plots here because it is unspoiled and lacks  sophisticated entertainments.   If we turn it into a bustling tourist centre like Hermanus it will lose its special appeal.  People have visited Rooiels for a hundred thousand years and we trust that  our children’s children will still be able to enjoy its plant and animal life and swim from its peaceful beach
